Treatment of severe male infertility by micromanipulation-assisted fertilization: an update

Jan Tesarik¹ and Carmen Mendoza^{1,2}

¹ MAR and Gen, Molecular Assisted Reproduction and Genetics, ² Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Granada Faculty of Sciences, Campus Universitario Fuentenueva, 70018 Granada, Spain

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. New developments in micromanipulation-assisted fertilization techniques and their use in male infertility management 3.1. New technical support

3.1.1. Laser-assisted ICSI

3.1.2. The use of Polscope system for meiotic spindle visualization in living oocytes

3.1.3. The use of high-magnification sperm selection

3.1.4. In vitro culture systems for germ cell in vitro maturation

4. New developments in the diagnosis and treatment of genetic and epigenetic deficiencies of the male gamete

4.1. Sperm chromatin defects and DNA fragmentation

4.2. Deficiency of oocyte-activating factors

4.3. Deficiency of the sperm centriole

5. Clinical efficacy

5.1. Management of severe teratozoospermia

- 5.2. Management of high degree of sperm DNA fragmentation
- 5.3. Management of maturation arrest
- 6. Health hazards for the offspring

7. References

1. ABSTRACT

In the past 5-10 years the evolution of micromanipulation-assisted fertilization for the treatment of severe male infertility was marked by the introduction of new technical support, refinement of diagnostic methods for the evaluation of sperm developmental potential, and development of new treatment regimens for the newly discovered abnormalities. The new technical support involves the use of non-contact laser technology to assist micromanipulation for fertilization, the evolution of polarized microscopy-based optical systems to noninvasively detect the position of the meiotic spindle in living human oocytes, and the development of highmagnification optical systems for a better morphological selection of spermatozoa to be used for fertilization. Diagnostic approaches were enriched by commercial availability of kits for the analysis of sperm DNA integrity, leading to the definition of sperm nuclear DNA damage as a distinct cause of male infertility, and by the development of tests, based on heterologous ICSI, for detection of sperm failure to activate oocytes. Several treatment options for these conditions have been proposed and are currently being tested in larger-scale trials. Some technical improvement was also achieved in the field of *in vitro* maturation of germ cells from men with in vivo maturation arrest, but only a modest clinical improvement resulted from their application. As to the risk for the offspring, recent data are rather reassuring. Except for the risk of transmission of genetically based infertility, no straightforward evidence for a health risk derived from these techniques has been provided. Nevertheless, caution is necessary, particularly concerning the eventual increase in genomic-imprinting abnormalities.

2. INTRODUCTION

Micromanipulation-assisted fertilization has revolutionized the treatment of severe male infertility over the past 15 years. Not only has it made possible assisted reproduction with the patient's own gametes in cases of extremely severe male factor which previously required the recourse to sperm donation, but it also brought about conceptual changes in our understanding of fertilizationrelated biological events and opened new fields of research aimed at the treatment of cases in which mature spermatozoa are completely absent in the patient's testis. It was noted that fertilization often failed even when a spermatozoon was present in the oocyte cytoplasm. This observation drew the attention of researchers to the complex issue of oocyte activation and led to the definition of yet unknown pathological conditions in which infertility was due to the lack or insufficiency of oocyte-activating factors in spermatozoa or to a failed or abnormal response of the oocyte to sperm-derived activating factors.

The possibility of using immature (epididymal or testicular) spermatozoa, and even less mature germ cells for micromanipulation-assisted fertilization opened the question about the relationship between germ cell nuclear and cytoplasmic maturity, on the one hand, and fertilizing ability and developmental potential of the resulting embryo on the other hand. It has been shown that nuclear immaturity is often associated with nuclear DNA damage which, however, can be present in mature spermatozoa of some men, too. Clinical consequences of this condition and possibilities of their alleviation have been studied.

Finally, technical progress in the field of microscopic analysis and micromanipulation of living cells, namely the introduction of computer-assisted polarized microscopy (Polscope) systems, of non-contact laser micromanipulation devices, and of high-power optical systems, brought about new possibilities in the selection of gametes to be used for micromanipulation-assisted fertilization and in the management of some particular cases in which standard manipulation procedures failed.

This paper updates the current options for the treatment of severe male infertility by micromanipulationassisted fertilization taking into account these new developments.

3. NEW DEVELOPMENTS IN MICROMANIPULATION-ASSISTED FERTILIZATION TECHNIQUES AND THEIR USE IN MALE INFERTILITY MANAGEMENT

3.1. New technical support

Since the publication of the last version of this review (1), new technical possibilities emerged, namely in the fields of laser-assisted manipulation, microscopy and *in vitro* culture. The introduction of non-contact lasermediated manipulation devices has made it possible to perform ICSI through a pre-drilled opening in the zona pellucida, thus making the manipulation more oocytefriendly, which is of importance in some special cases. New optical systems introduced to micromanipulation assisted fertilization include the Polscope and the highpower magnification Nomarski optics. The former enables avoidance of the oocyte chromosome region during injection, and the other facilitates the selection of spermatozoa to be injected according to finer structural analysis as provided by the conventional systems. Finally, new *in vitro* culture systems have been proposed for *in vitro* maturation of immature germ cells from patients with maturation arrest.

3.1.1. Laser-assisted ICSI

Laser-assisted ICSI has been first described in 2001, when it was used in a couple with four previous ICSI failures because of poor oocyte survival resulting in a clinical pregnancy (2). A similar case report was published one year later (3). These pilot studies were followed by larger clinical series which confirmed the suitability of laser-assisted ICSI in cases of inherent oocyte fragility (4, 5, 6). Moreover, in addition to reducing the risk of post-ICSI oocyte death, an improvement of day 2 embryo quality, facilitation of blastocyst hatching and an increase in the clinical pregnancy rate were reported in sibling oocytes randomly allocated to conventional or laser-assisted ICSI (6).

In spite of these encouraging results the indication criteria for the use of laser-assisted ICSI still remain to be defined in a more precise and reproducible manner, since the use of the laser technique represents an additional workload associated with the ICSI procedure and the clinical benefit of this ICSI modification in the general patient population has not been demonstrated.

3.1.2. The use of Polscope system for meiotic spindle visualization in living oocytes

Polscope is a computer-assisted polarization microscopy system with which the oocyte meiotic spindle can be visualized in living oocytes on the basis of its birefringence (7). It permits the analysis of the meiotic spindles of oocytes subjected to ICSI and was first described in this function in 2001 (7, 8). It was shown that the prognosis of oocytes in which meiotic spindle cannot be easily visualized by Polscope after ICSI is compromised (7, 8, 9, 10, 11). The ease with which the oocyte meiotic spindle can be visualized by Polscope may depend on the duration of *in vivo* action of HCG on the maturing oocyte, since a spindle was imaged in a significantly higher number of oocytes from \geq 38 h after HCG administration compared with those in the <38 h group (11).

Further studies have addressed the potential predictive value of the actual position of the spindle with regard to the first polar body in ICSI-subjected oocytes (9, 10). The predictive value of the spindle position remains a controversial issue because no relationship was found in one of these studies (9), whereas the other showed that high degrees of misalignment between the meiotic spindle and the first polar body predict an increased risk of fertilization abnormalities (10).

Quite recently Polscope was used to evaluate optical qualities of the zona pellucida; this analysis suggested that high-quality oocytes, associated with conception cycles in ICSI, show a higher magnitude of light retardation by the zona pellucida as compared to oocytes used in non-conception cycles (12).

3.1.3. The use of high-magnification sperm selection

In conventional ICSI both sperm selection and injection are performed with the use of Hofman modulation contrast optics and the objective of x20, leading to an overall optical magnification of about x400 (13). It was suggested recently that ICSI outcomes may be improved by selecting spermatozoa with the use of higher-powered optical systems (14). To this end a system using Nomarski interference contrast optics with a x100 oil-immersion objective and a secondary magnification system, leading to a total magnification of x6000, was developed (14).

A prospective controlled study, performed in couples with male infertility and at least two previous failed ICSI attempts, showed that ICSI with spermatozoa selected with this high-magnification optical system resulted in a significantly higher pregnancy rate as compared with conventional ICSI (15). A subsequent study, performed by the same group, showed that higher implantation and pregnancy rates were achieved by ICSI when at least some morphologically normal spermatozoa could be selected with this high-power system as compared to cases in which only morphologically abnormal spermatozoa were available (16).

These observations have suggested that highmagnification ICSI may be the treatment of choice in cases of repeated conventional ICSI failures caused by a paternal effect on embryo development. Two types of paternal effect have been recognized, an early paternal effect which becomes manifest as early as the pronuclear zygote stage and is usually not associated with increased sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation, and a late paternal effect which does not impair embryo growth and morphology during three days post-fertilization and is mostly associated with elevated sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation (17, 18, 19). Work is in progress to compare the benefits of highmagnification ICSI in each of the two types of paternal effect.

3.1.4. In vitro culture systems for germ cell in vitro maturation

At the time at which the first edition of this review (1) was written the first in vitro culture system with which human male germ cell maturation arrest could be overcome was developed (20, 21). The first childbirths after transfer of embryos conceived with in vitro matured late spermatids in patients with post-meiotic maturation arrest at the round spermatid stage and in one patient with meiotic maturation arrest at the primary spermatocyte stage were subsequently achieved with the use of this system (22). The feasibility of obtaining healthy offspring from oocytes fertilized with spermatids developed in vitro from primary spermatocytes has been confirmed in the mouse model (23). The system used in humans was a relatively simple one and was based on culture of isolated segments of dissected seminiferous tubules at 30°C in a commercial culture medium destined for incubation of human gametes

supplemented with high concentrations of FSH and testosterone (20, 21). It was speculated that the maintenance of the original cellular associations between germ cells and their supporting Sertoli cells was a key to success because it allowed the Sertoli cells to support germ cell differentiation and to protect the differentiating germ cells from programmed cell death in response to stimuli received by FSH and testosterone, respectively (21). This avoided the use of an exogenous supporting cell layer which was demonstrated to be required in animal models if germ cells were separated from Sertoli cells at the outset of in vitro culture (24). However, it appears that some developmental controls, normally exerted by Sertoli cells upon germ cells, were released in this in vitro system because virtually all of the *in vitro* matured spermatids took atypical forms; the elimination of these control processes might be the main reason why the *in vitro* differentiation progressed at a markedly accelerated path (some primary spermatocytes developed to elongated spermatids within 48 hours of culture) as compared with in vivo conditions (20, 21).

Further study showed that the efficacy of *in vitro* maturation of germ cells from patients with maturation arrest can be increased by further increasing FSH concentration in culture medium up to 50 IU/1 (25). However, the early belief that germ cell in vitro maturation will rapidly develop to a highly efficient and routinely used treatment option did not come true (reviewed in 26). The main problem hampering fertilization outcomes with germ cells from men with maturation arrest is not so much germ cell immaturity but rather the basic pathological condition underlying the maturation arrest. Germ cells from men with maturation arrest have often fragmented DNA in their nuclei, a condition resulting from programmed cell death (apoptosis) activated in the testis to remove these blocked cells from the seminiferous tubules (27). Even though in vitro culture exerts a negative pressure against apoptotic germ cells and decreases the risk of inadvertently injecting a cell with fragmented nuclear DNA into the oocyte (28), it may not overcome functional abnormalities disturbing early embryo development and implantation which are associated with maturation arrest.

Based on the observation that *in vitro* incubation of testicular biopsy samples facilitates the selection of late spermatids and spermatozoa devoid of nuclear DNA damage (28), this technique was tested with success in cases in which a limited number of spermatozoa could be found in the testis, but most testicular germ cells had fragmented DNA (29, 30). In fact, as comparing with different types of maturation arrest, it was this latter indication in which *in vitro* culture of testicular germ cells achieved the best clinical outcomes (31).

More recently, an alternative *in vitro* maturation system, in which isolated human germ cells, detached from their supporting Sertoli cells, are cultured on a monolayer of Vero cells or human fibroblasts (32). As compared with the previously described system, relying on the preservation of the original germ-Sertoli cell association, this new system appeared to be more efficient in terms of the percentage of germ cells from men with *in vivo* maturation arrest that resumed meiosis and post-meiotic differentiation *in vitro*, but the clinical efficacy, in terms of ongoing pregnancy and delivery rates, remains to be determined (33).

4. NEW DEVELOPMENIS IN THE DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OF GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC DEFICIENCIES OF THE MALE GAMETE

4.1. Sperm chromatin defects and DNA fragmentation

Elevated percentage of spermatozoa whose nuclear DNA is subject to fragmentation, similar to that resulting from programmed cell death in somatic cells, occurs in some men and is suspected to reduce fertility and to compromise assisted reproduction outcomes (18, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40 41). Different techniques have been developed to assess the degree of sperm nuclear damage. Sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) (42, 43), terminal deoxyribonucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labelling (TUNEL) assay (44, 45) and single cell gel electrophoresis (Comet assay) (37, 38) are currently the three most widely used ones.

To interpret and correlate data obtained with each of these three techniques, it is important to be aware of the existence of essential conceptual differences between SCSA. TUNEL and Comet assays, each of which reveals different aspects of sperm chromatin damage. Hence, according to the technique used, different cut-off values for clinically relevant extent of sperm DNA fragmentation have been proposed (reviewed in 46). Moreover, even with the same technique, results obtained in different laboratories may differ because of variability of laboratory factors influencing the assessment protocol and criteria of interpretation (47). Notwithstanding, with a few exceptions (48), most studies performed so far concord in that the establishment of a full-term pregnancy by assisted reproduction is compromised if the percentage of DNAfragmented spermatozoa in the ejaculate, as detected by TUNEL, is high (reviewed in 49). A similar relationship has been reported for SCSA (50).

The first efficient treatment of male infertility due to sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation implied the use of surgically retrieved testicular spermatozoa for ICSI (46). The rationale of this approach was based on previous observations which showed that sperm DNA damage is basically produced after the release of spermatozoa from the seminiferous tubules, suggesting that testicular spermatozoa can be expected to have less damaged DNA as compared with ejaculated spermatozoa (51). More recently, oral antioxidant treatment with high doses of vitamins C and E (1 g of both daily during 2 months) has been shown to markedly reduce the percentage of DNA-fragmented spermatozoa in the ejaculate (52), and satisfactory clinical pregnancy rates were reported after ICSI with ejaculated spermatozoa in patients in whom this effect was observed (49). However, sperm DNA damage was insensitive to antioxidant treatment in some men for whom the recourse to testicular sperm retrieval for ICSI was thus indicated (52).

An alternative approach to the treatment of male infertility due to sperm nuclear DNA damage was suggested recently by a group that pioneered the use of ICSI with spermatozoa morphologically selected with the use of a high-magnification, computer-assisted optical system (14, 15, 16). With the use of this technique small vacuoles, not detectable with magnifications currently employed for conventional ICSI, can be detected in the head of some spermatozoa, and avoiding the injections of such spermatozoa to oocytes was reported to increase significantly clinical pregnancy rate (16). It can be hypothesized that these vacuoles represent regions of incompletely condensed sperm chromatin where sperm nuclear DNA is less protected against oxidative damage, which is the main cause of sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation (53), as compared with DNA embedded within highly condensed chromatin regions. Accordingly, spermatozoa with intra-nuclear vacuoles may still have intact DNA, but they would be at a higher risk of suffering DNA damage in pathological conditions leading to excessive production of reactive oxygen species in the male genital tract. Preliminary observations, indicating that the use of high-magnification ICSI improves significantly clinical pregnancy rate in couples with high sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation as compared with a previous attempt using conventional ICSI (54), corroborate this hypothesis.

4.2. Deficiency of oocyte-activating factors

Complete fertilization failure or severely impaired fertilization rate after ICSI is a rare condition if motile spermatozoa can be selected for injection. However, it occurs in 2–3% of ICSI cycles (55), repeatedly in most of them, and is mainly due to lack of oocyte activation (56, 57). This has been noted for the first time in patients with round-headed spermatozoa (globozoospermia) although spermatozoa of these men fertilize normally after ICSI in about one half of these cases (58). However, complete or nearly complete fertilization failure after ICSI can also occur in patients with morphologically normal spermatozoa (58, 59, 60, 61).

The observations that most of human oocytes that failed to fertilize after ICSI can be 'rescued' by an artificial increase of free intracellular calcium ion concentration with the use of a ionophore (62) and that a virtually normal pattern of calcium signals can be restored in such oocytes, possibly owing to the presence of sub-threshold quantities of oocyte activating factors in the spermatozoa injected (63), were at the origin of clinical attempts at boosting fertilization with calcium ionophores in patients with previous complete or near-complete fertilization failures. After the first report describing a successful pregnancy and delivery after intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and assisted oocyte activation with ionophore A23187 after ICSI in a globozoospermic patient (64), this method was validated by other groups achieving ongoing pregnancies and births in patient with defective sperm oocyte-activating activity both associated and not associated with globozoospermia (58, 59, 60, 61, 65, 66).

Failed oocyte activation is mostly a consequence of defective calcium signalling after sperm deposition in

oocyte cytoplasm (67). Hence, other methods increasing calcium concentration in the oocyte cytoplasm during or after ICSI can also overcome oocyte-activation deficiencies. In addition to the use of ionophores, this can be achieved by electrical stimulation of sperm-injected oocytes (68) or by simple modifications of the ICSI techniques, increasing the intensity or duration of calcium influx from external medium to oocyte cytoplasm during ICSI (58, 61). All these methods have been reported to work in cases of oocyte-activation defects and led to the establishment of ongoing pregnancies. A larger, multicentre prospective study is needed to compare the clinical efficacy and safety of these different assisted oocyte activation methods.

An animal test using heterologous ICSI with the patient's spermatozoa to mouse, hamster, rabbit or bovine oocytes (69, 70, 71) can be used to evaluate the oocyteactivating potential of spermatozoa and to decide whether the recourse to a special method to boost oocyte activation after ICSI is required.

4.3. Deficiency of the sperm centriole

In some cases repeated ICSI failures are suspected to be due to a defective function of sperm centriole (18, 72, 73, 74, 75). Defects of centriole function as nucleation sites for zygote's microtubule organizing regions can be suspected in cases in which oocytes become fertilized, but the two pronuclei fail to establish a close apposition and to enter syngamy. This functional abnormality can be revealed by a heterologous ICSI test using bovine oocytes and cytochemical visualization of microtubuli in newly formed asters with the use of antibodies against acetylated - and β-tubulins (75).

Whether techniques relying on micromanipulation-assisted fertilization can be of help in these cases still remains to be evaluated. Centriolar abnormalities are often associated with subtle morphological alterations of the sperm head-tail junction. and pronuclear alignment followed by syngamy was achieved in a case of previous complete syngamy failure by carefully avoiding sperm with obvious anomalies of the connecting piece to be used for ICSI (75). However, out of three cycles performed in this way only two yielded a pregnancy and both pregnancies resulted in a pre-clinical abortion (75). A question arises whether the newly described technique of high-magnification ICSI (see the section 3.1.3) would be of help in these cases.

5. CLINICAL EFFICACY

The introduction of new diagnostic, microsopic and micromanipulation methods in the past years has improved clinical efficacy of assisted reproduction in some types of severe male infertility. Major improvements have been achieved in cases of severe teratozoospermia and high degrees of sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation. Some improvement was also made in the treatment of germ cell maturation arrest, although the efficacy remains low in comparison with the former two indications.

5.1. Management of severe teratozoospermia

Several studies have reported a lack of association between the degree of teratozoospermia and ICSI outcomes (76, 77, 78). This observation can be explained by the selection of normal-appearing spermatozoa to be used for ICSI which is a rule in most laboratories. In extreme cases, however, in which no morphologically normal spermatozoa could be found, lower pregnancy and implantation rates were reported as compared with those in which at least some morphologically normal spermatozoa were used for ICSI (13). Even though morphologically abnormal spermatozoa may fertilize oocytes, the resulting embryos often fail to implant or are aborted because of chromosomal abnormalities which are linked to sperm morphological deformities (79).

Moreover, some spermatozoa which would be considered as normal with the use of the current optical magnification employed in conventional ICSI would be classified as abnormal if higher magnifications were used. This can explain the beneficial effects on implantation and pregnancy rates reported with the use of high-magnification sperm selection (15, 16). Similar to conventional ICSI, clinical outcomes of this high-magnification ICSI are better when at least a few morphologically normal spermatozoa can be selected (16).

These data suggest that the use of highmagnification ICSI could hardly help those cases in which all spermatozoa available for ICSI are classified as morphologically abnormal already with the use of conventional magnifications. On the other hand, the high magnification can be expected to improve outcomes in cases in which many spermatozoa bear subtle morphological abnormalities which would not be recognized in the conventional ICSI setting. Further study is needed to determine the frequency of such cases in the population of infertile patients in which ICSI is indicated.

5.2. Management of high degree of sperm DNA fragmentation

Elevated percentages of spermatozoa with damaged DNA in the ejaculate do not necessarily predict assisted reproduction failure (48). However, most studies found a negative correlation between the degree of sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation and the chance of pregnancy although there is a lack of consensus as to the cut-off values (see Section 4.1). Recently it was reported that elevated percentages of TUNEL-positive (80) and SCSApositive (81) spermatozoa are negatively correlated with in vitro blastocyst development. Furthermore, increased figures of sperm nuclear DNA fragmentation were found in couples with recurrent pregnancy loss (40) This is in agreement with the assumption that spermatozoa with DNA fragmentation can still fertilize an oocyte but that when paternal genes are "switched on," further embryonic development stops, resulting in failed pregnancy (37, 41, 82, 83, 84).

A recent study has reported high pregnancy (44.4%) and implantation (20.7%) rates in patients with at

least two previous non-conception ICSI cycles and elevated percentage of TUNEL-positive spermatozoa in the ejaculate in a subsequent ICSI attempt performed with testicular spermatozoa (46). Moreover, similar high success rates (48.2% pregnancy rate and 19.6% implantation rate) were achieved by ICSI with ejaculated spermatozoa after 2 months of oral antioxidant treatment (1 g vitamin C and 1 g vitamin E daily) in patients who showed a significant decrease in the percentage of TUNEL-positive spermatozoa after this treatment (49).

Preliminary data suggest that the application of high-magnification ICSI (see section 3.1.3) may also substantially improve clinical outcomes of ICSI in patients with sperm nuclear DNA damage (54). Further research is needed to define the patient groups for which each of the three above approaches would be the most suitable.

5.3. Management of maturation arrest

In spite of the improvement owing to the application of germ cell in vitro maturation systems with which in vivo maturation arrest can be overcome (see section 3.1.4), the chance of ongoing pregnancy and birth after injection of the resulting late spermatids to oocytes remains low (1-10% depending on the type of maturation arrest and on the female partner's age). These low success rates contrast with relatively high efficacy of fertilization with immature or in vitro matured germ cells reported in animal experiments (85). This difference can be explained by the fact that the animal experiments were performed with germ cells from healthy animals as opposed to the human clinical data obtained with germ cells recovered from patients suffering from different underlying pathological conditions, mostly of unexplained aetiology (31). Unless the pathological mechanisms leading to testiculopathies underlying maturation arrest in humans are defined, and appropriate therapies of the causative factors are discovered, no substantial progress can be expected.

6. HEALTH HAZARDS FOR THE OFFSPRING

In the last edition of this review (1) potential hazards of micromanipulation-assisted fertilization in cases of severe male infertility were outlined, but all of them were merely hypothetical. In the meantime some new data emerged, as nicely reviewed by Retzloff and Hornstein (86). However, the major conclusion of this review was that, although there remains some uncertainty, the overwhelming majority of studies are reassuring in their findings of no specific increased risk for the offspring.

In 1996, Reijo *et al.* (87) found that 13% of 89 men with nonobstructive azoospermia have microdeletions on the long arm of the Y chromosome in the DAZ cluster of genes. This suggests that these abnormalities may easily be incorporated into the genome of the male offspring of ICSI. It remains to be determined whether the sons of fathers with Y chromosome microdeletions will have the same "reproductive phenotype" and thus require these same procedures themselves once they reach maturity.

Transmission of chromosomal abnormalities, whose risk is two-fold to twelve-fold increased in infertile

men (86) to offspring is another subject of concern. In fact, a significant increase in the incidence of sex chromosome abnormalities has been demonstrated in children conceived by ICSI as compared to general population (88, 89), presumably mainly due to transmission of paternal chromosomal aberration, whose frequency is known to be increased in infertile men (90, 91, 92, 93, 94) and to be negatively correlated with sperm concentration and particularly with the percentage of normal forms (95). De novo karyotypic abnormalities, unrelated to abnormalities in the male, are less frequent, but they exist (96) and may be produced by some factors related to the ICSI procedure (97).

In spite of isolated case reports on specific congenital malformation and developmental abnormalities after ICSI, there is probably no significant increase in these pathological conditions in the overall ICSI offspring population (86). However, one large, well-designed study on the risk of major birth defects after ICSI (98) as well as the reports of imprinting defects, mainly the cases of Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (99, 100, 101) and Angelman syndrome (102) are cautionary in this regard. It is reassuring that there appears to be no increase in malformations of any specific organ system (86).

7. REFERENCES

1. Tesarik J, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: Treatment of severe male infertility by micromanipulation-assisted fertilization: news and views. *Front Biosci* 3, E238-E246 (1998)

2. Rienzi L, E. Greco, F. Ubaldi, M. Iacobelli, F. Martinez & J. Tesarik: Laser-assisted intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 76, 1045-1047 (2001)

3. Nagy Z. P, S. A. Oliveira, V. Abdelmassih & R. Abdelmassih: Novel use of laser to assist ICSI for patients with fragile oocytes: a case report. *Reprod Biomed Online* 4, 27-31 (2002)

4. Abdelmassih S, J. Cardoso, V. Abdelmassih, J. A. Dias, R. Abdelmassih & Z. P. Nagy: Laser-assisted ICSI: a novel approach to obtain higher oocyte survival and embryo quality rates. *Hum Reprod* 17, 2694-2699 (2002)

5. Rienzi L, F. Ubaldi, F. Martinez, M. G. Minasi, M. Iacobelli, S. Ferrero, J. Tesarik & E. Greco: Clinical application of laser-assisted ICSI: a pilot study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 115 Suppl 1, S77-S79 (2004)

6. Moser M, T. Ebner, M. Sommergruber, U. Gaisswinkler, K. Jesacher, M. Puchner, R. Wiesinger & G. Tews: Laserassisted zona pellucida thinning prior to routine ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 19, 573-578 (2004)

7. Wang W. H, L. Meng, R. J. Hackett, R. Odenbourg & D. L. Keefe: The spindle observation and its relationship with fertilization after intracytoplasmic sperm injection in living human oocytes. *Fertil Steril* 75, 348-353 (2001)

8. Wang W. H, L. Meng, R. J. Hackett & D. L. Keefe: Developmental ability of human oocytes with or without birefringent spindles imaged by Polscope before insemination. *Hum Reprod* 16, 1464-1468 (2001)

9. Moon J. H, C. S. Hyun, S. W. Lee, W. Y. Son, S. H. Yoon & J. H. Lim: Visualization of the metaphase II meiotic spindle in living human oocytes using the Polscope enables the prediction of embryonic developmental competence after ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 18, 817-820 (2003) 10. Rienzi L, F. Ubaldi, F. Martinez, M. Iacobelli, M. G. Minasi, S. Ferrero, J. Tesarik & E. Greco: Relationship between meiotic spindle location with regard to the polar body position and oocyte developmental potential after ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 18, 1289-1293 (2003)

11. Cohen Y, M. Malcov, T. Schwartz, N. Mey-Raz, A. Carmon, T. Cohen, J. B. Lessing, A. Amit & F. Azem: Spindle imaging: a new marker for optimal timing of ICSI? *Hum Reprod* 19, 649-654 (2004)

12. Shen Y, T. Stalf, C. Mehnert, U. Eichenlaub-Ritter & H. R. Tinneberg: High magnitude of light retardation by the zona pellucida is associated with conception cycles. *Hum Reprod* 20, 1596-1606 (2005)

13. De Vos A, H. Van De Velde, H. Joris, G. Verheyen, P. Devroey & A. Van Steirteghem: Influence of individual sperm morphology on fertilization, embryo morphology, and pregnancy outcome of intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 79, 42-48 (2003)

14. Bartoov B, A. Berkovitz, F. Eltes, A. Kogosowski, Y. Menezo & Y. Barak: Real-time fine morphology of motile human sperm cells is associated with IVF-ICSI outcome. *J Androl* 23, 1-8 (2002)

15. Bartoov B, A. Berkovitz, F. Eltes, A. Kogosovsky, A. Yagoda, H. Lederman, S. Artzi, M. Gross & Y. Barak: Pregnancy rates are higher with intracytoplasmic morphologically selected sperm injection than with conventional intracytoplasmic injection. *Fertil Steril* 80, 1413-1419 (2003)

16. Berkovitz A, F. Eltes, S. Yaari, N. Katz, N. Barr, A. Fishman & B. Bartoov: The morphological normalcy of the sperm nucleus and pregnancy rate of intracytoplasmic injection with morphologically selected sperm. *Hum Reprod* 20, 185-190 (2004)

17. Tesarik J, E. Greco & C. Mendoza: Paternal effects acting during the first cell cycle of human preimplantation development after ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 17, 184-189 (2002)

18. Tesarik J, E. Greco E & C. Mendoza: Late, but not early, paternal effect on human embryo development is related to sperm DNA fragmentation. *Hum Reprod* 19, 611-615 (2004)

19. Tesarik J: The paternal effects on cell division in the human preimplantation embryo. *Reprod Biomed Online* 10, 370–375 (2005)

20. Tesarik J, E. Greco, L. Rienzi, F. Ubaldi, M. Guido, P. Cohen-Bacrie & C. Mendoza: Differentiation of spermatogenic cells during *in vitro* culture of testicular biopsy samples from patients with obstructive azoospermia: effect of recombinant follicle stimulating hormone. *Hum Reprod* 13, 2772–2781 (1998)

21. Tesarik J, M. Guido, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: Human spermatogenesis *in vitro*: respective effects of follicle stimulating hormone and testosterone on meiosis, spermiogenesis, and Sertoli cell apoptosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 4467–4473 (1998)

22. Tesarik J, M. Bahceci, C. Ozcan, E. Greco & C. Mendoza: Restoration of fertility by *in vitro* spermatogenesis. *Lancet* 353, 555–556 (1999)

23. Marh J, L. L. Tres, Y. Yamazaki, R. Yanagimachi & A. L. Kirszenbaum: Mouse round spermatids developed *in vitro* from preexisting spermatocytes can produce normal offspring by nuclear injection into *in vivo*-developed mature occytes. *Biol Reprod* 69, 169–176 (2003)

24. Tres L. L & A. L. Kierszenbaum: Viability of rat spermatogenic cells *in vitro* is facilitated by their coculture with Sertoli cells in serum-free hormone-supplemented medium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 80, 3377-3381 (1983)

25. Tesarik J, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: The effect of FSH on male germ cell survival and differentiation *in vitro* is mimicked by pentoxifylline but not insulin. *Mol Hum Reprod* 6, 877-881 (2000)

26. Sofikitis N, E. Pappas, A. Kawatani, D. Baltogiannis, D. Loutradis, N. Kanakas, D Giannakis, F. Dimitriadis, K. Tsoukanelis, I. Georgiou, G. Makrydimas, Y. Mio, V. Tarlatzis, M. Melekos & I. Miyagawa: Efforts to create an artificial testis: culture systems of male germ cells under biochemical conditions resembling the seminiferous tubular biochemical environment. *Hum Reprod Update* 11, 229-259 (2005)

27. Tesarik J, E. Greco, P. Cohen-Bacrie & C. Mendoza: Germ cell apoptosis in men with complete and incomplete spermiogenesis failure. *Mol Hum Reprod* 4, 757-762 (1998)

28. Tesarik J, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: *In vitro* culture facilitates the selection of healthy spermatids for assisted reproduction. *Fertil Steril* 72, 809-813 (1999)

29. Tesarik J, N. Cruz-Navarro, E. Moreno, M. T. Canete & C. Mendoza: Birth of healthy twins after fertilization with *in vitro* cultured spermatids from a patient with massive *in vivo* apoptosis of postmeiotic germ cells. *Fertil Steril* 74, 1044-1046 (2000)

30. Tesarik J, Greco E, Mendoza C. Assisted reproduction with in-vitro-cultured testicular spermatozoa in cases of severe germ cell apoptosis: a pilot study. Hum Reprod. 2001;16:2640-2645.

31. Tesarik J: Using the male gamete for assisted reproduction: past, present and future. *J Androl* 24, 317-328 (2003)

32. Tanaka A, M. Nagayoshi, S. Awata, Y. Mawatari, I. Tanaka & H. Kusunoki: Completion of meiosis in human primary spermatocytes through *in vitro* coculture with Vero cells. *Fertil Steril* 79, 795-801 (2003)

33. Tesarik J: Overcoming maturation arrest by *in vitro* spermatogenesis: search for the optimal culture system. *Fertil Steril* 81, 1417-1419 (2004)

34. Aitken RJ: The Amoroso Lecture. The human spermatozoon—a cell in crisis? *J Reprod Fertil* 115, 1–7 (1999)

35. Host E, S. Lindenberg & S. Smidt-Jensen: The role of DNA strand breaks in human spermatozoa used for IVF and ICSI. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 79, 559–563 (2000)

36. Larson K. L, C. J. DeJonge, A. M. Barnes, L. K. Jost & D. P. Evenson: Sperm chromatin structure assay parameters as predictors of failed pregnancy following assisted reproductive techniques. *Hum Reprod* 15, 1717-1722 (2000)

37. Morris I. D, S. Ilott, L. Dixon & D. R. Brison: The spectrum of DNA damage in human sperm assessed by single cell gel electrophoresis (Comet assay) and its relationship to fertilization and embryo development. *Hum Reprod* 17, 990–998 (2002)

38. Tomsu M, V. Sharma & D. Miller: Embryo quality and IVF treatment outcomes may correlate with different sperm comet assay parameters. *Hum Reprod* 17, 1856–1862 (2002)

39. Benchaib M, V. Braun, J. Lornage, S. Hadj, B. Salle, H. Lejeune & J. F. Guérin: Sperm DNA fragmentation decreases the pregnancy rate in an assisted reproductive technique. *Hum Reprod* 18, 1023–1028 (2003)

40. Carrell D. T, L. Liu, C. M. Peterson, K. P. Jones, H. H. Hatasaka, L. Erickson & B. Campbell: Sperm DNA fragmentation is increased in couples with unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss. *Arch Androl* 49, 49-55 (2003)

41. Henkel R, M. Hajimohammad, T. Stalf, C. Hoogendijk, C. Mehnert, R. Menkveld, H. Gips, W. B. Schill & T. F. Kruger: Influence of deoxyribonucleic acid damage on fertilization and pregnancy. *Fertil Steril* 81, 965-972 (2004)

42. Evenson D. P, Z. Darzynkiewicz & M. R. Melamed: Relation of mammalian sperm chromatin heterogeneity to fertility. *Science* 240, 1131–1133 (1980)

43. Evenson D. P, L. K. Jost, D. Marshall, M. J. Zinaman, E. Clegg, K. Purvis, P. De Angelis & O. P. Clausen: Utility of the sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) as a diagnostic and prognostic tool in the human fertility clinic. *Hum Reprod* 14, 1039–1049 (1999)

44. Sun J. G, A. Jurisicova & R. F. Camper: Detection of deoxyribonucleic acid fragmentation in human sperm: correlation with fertilization *in vitro*. *Biol Reprod* 56, 602–607 (1997)

45. Henkel R, E. Kierspel, M. Hajimohammad, T. Stalf, C. Hoogendijk, C. Mehnert, R. Menkveld, W.-B. Schill & T. Kruger: DNA fragmentation of spermatozoa and assisted reproduction technology. *Reprod Biomed Online* 7, 477–484 (2003)

46. Greco E, F. Scarselli, M. Iacobelli, L. Rienzi, F. Ubaldi, S. Ferrero, G. Franco, N. Anniballo, C. Mendoza & J. Tesarik: Efficient treatment of infertility due to sperm DNA damage by ICSI with testicular spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod* 20, 226-230 (2005)

47. Boe-Hansen G. B, A. K. Ersboll & P. Christensen: Variability and laboratory factors affecting the sperm chromatin structure assay in human semen. *J Androl* 26, 360-368 (2005)

48. Gandini L, F. Lombardo, D. Paoli, F. Caruso, P. Eleuteri, G. Leter, R. Ciriminna, F. Culasso, F. Dondero, A. Lenzi & M. Spano: Full-term pregnancies achieved with ICSI despite high levels of sperm chromatin damage. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1409-1417 (2004)

49. Greco E, S. Romano, M. Iacobelli, S. Ferrero, E. Baroni, M. G. Minasi, F. Ubaldi, L. Rienzi & J. Tesarik: ICSI in cases of sperm DNA damage: beneficial effect of oral antioxidant treatment. *Hum Reprod* 20, 2590-2594 (2005)

50. Bungum M, P. Humaidan, M. Spano, K. Jepson, L. Bungum & A. Giwercman: The predictive value of sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) parameters for the outcome of intrauterine insemination, IVF and ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1401-1408 (2004)

51. Tesarik J, F. Ubaldi, R. Rienzi, F. Martinez, M. Iacobelli, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: Caspase-dependent and -independent DNA fragmentation in Sertoli and germ cells from men with primary testicular failure: relationship with histological diagnosis. *Hum Reprod* 19, 254–261 (2004)

52. Greco E, M. Iacobelli, L. Rienzi, F. Ubaldi, S. Ferrero & J. Tesarik: Reduction of the incidence of sperm DNA fragmentation by oral antioxidant treatment. *J Androl* 26, 349-353 (2005)

53. Aitken R. J, M. A. Baker & D. Sawyer: Oxidative stress in the male germ line and its role in the aetiology of male infertility and genetic disease. *Reprod Biomed Online* 7, 65-70 (2003)

54. Hazout A, M. Dumont-Hassan, A.-M. Junca, P. Cohen Bacrie & J. Tesarik: High-magnification ICSI overcomes paternal effect resistant to conventional ICSI. *Reprod Biomed Online* webpaper RB 2005/2026 (2005)

55. Heindryckx B, J. Van der Elst, P. De Sutter & M. Dhont: Treatment option for sperm- or oocyte-related fertilization failure: assisted oocyte activation following diagnostic heterologous ICSI. *Hum Reprod* 20, 2237-2241 (2005)

56. Sousa M & J. Tesarik: Ultrastructural analysis of fertilization failure after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Hum Reprod* 9, 2374-2380 (1994)

57. Kovacic B & V. Vlaisavljevic: Configuration of maternal and paternal chromatin and pertaining microtubules in human oocytes failing to fertilize after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Mol Reprod Dev* 55, 197-204 (2000)

58. Tesarik J, L. Rienzi, F. Ubaldi, C. Mendoza & E. Greco: Use of a modified intracytoplasmic sperm injection technique to overcome sperm-borne and oocyte-borne oocyte activation failures. *Fertil Steril* 78, 619-624 (2002)

59. Eldar-Geva T, B. Brooks, E. J. Margalioth, E. Zylber-Haran, M. Gal & S. J. Silber: Successful pregnancy and delivery after calcium ionophore oocyte activation in a normozoospermic patient with previous repeated failed fertilization after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 79 Suppl 3, 1656-1658 (2003)

60. Chi H. J, J. J. Koo, S. J. Song, J. Y. Lee & S. S. Chang: Successful fertilization and pregnancy after intracytoplasmic sperm injection and oocyte activation with calcium ionophore in a normozoospermic patient with extremely low fertilization rates in intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles. *Fertil Steril* 82, 475-477 (2004)

61. Ebner T, M. Moser, M. Sommergruber, K. Jesacher & G. Tews: Complete oocyte activation failure after ICSI can be overcome by a modified injection technique. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1837-1841 (2004)

62. Tesarik J & M. Sousa: More than 90% fertilization rates after intracytoplasmic sperm injection and artificial oocyte activation with calcium ionophore. *Fertil Steril* 63, 343-349 (1995)

63. Tesarik J & J. Testart: Treatment of sperm-injected human oocytes with Ca^{2+} ionophore supports the development of Ca^{2+} oscillations. *Biol Reprod* 51, 385-391 (1994)

64. Rybouchkin AV, F. Van der Straeten, J. Quatacker, P. De Sutter & M. Dhont: Fertilization and pregnancy after assisted oocyte activation and intracytoplasmic sperm injection in a case of round-headed sperm associated with deficient oocyte activation capacity. *Fertil Steril* 68, 1144-1147 (1997)

65. Kim ST, Y. B. Cha, J. M. Park & M. C. Gye: Successful pregnancy and delivery from frozen-thawed embryos after intracytoplasmic sperm injection using round-headed spermatozoa and assisted oocyte activation in a globozoospermic patient with mosaic Down syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 75, 445-447 (2001) 66. Murase Y, Y. Araki, S. Mizuno, C. Kawaguchi, M, Naito, M. Yoshizawa & Y. Araki: Pregnancy following chemical activation of oocytes in a couple with repeated failure of fertilization using ICSI: case report. *Hum Reprod* 19, 1604-1607 (2004)

67. Tesarik J & C. Mendoza: *In vitro* fertilization by intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Bioessays* 21, 791–801 (1999)

68. Yanagida K, H. Katayose, H. Yazawa, Y. Kimura, A. Sato, H. Yanagimachi & R. Yanagimachi: Successful fertilization and pregnancy following ICSI and electrical oocyte activation. *Hum Reprod* 14, 1307-1311 (1999)

69. Rybouchkin A, D. Dozortsev, M. J. Pelinck, P. De Sutter & M. Dhont: Analysis of the oocyte activation capacity and chromosomal complement of round-headed human spermatozoa by their injection into mouse oocytes. *Hum Reprod* 11, 2170-2175 (1996)

70. Nakamura S, Y. Terada, T. Horiuchi, C. Emuta, T. Murakami, N. Yaegashi & K. Okamura: Analysis of the human sperm centrosomal function and the oocyte activation ability in a case of globozoospermia, by ICSI into bovine oocytes. *Hum Reprod* 17, 2930-2934 (2002)

71. Terada Y, S. Nakamura, J. Morita, M. Tachibana, Y. Morito, K. Ito, T. Murakami, N. Yaegashi & K. Okamura: Use of Mammalian eggs for assessment of human sperm function: molecular and cellular analyses of fertilization by intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 51, 290-293 (2004)

72. Asch R, C. Simerly, T. Ord, V. A. Ord & G. Schatten: The stages at which human fertilization arrests: microtubule and chromosome configurations in inseminated oocytes which failed to complete fertilization and development in humans. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1, see *Hum Reprod* 10, 1897-1906 (1995)

73. Van Blerkom J: Sperm centrosome dysfunction: a possible new class of male factor infertility in the human. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2, 349-354 (1996)

74. Obasaju M, A. Kadam, K. Sultan, M. Fateh & S. Munne: Sperm quality may adversely affect the chromosome constitution of embryos that result from intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 72, 1113-1115 (1999)

75. Rawe VY, Y. Terada, S. Nakamura, C. F. Chillik, S. Brugo Olmedo & H. E. Chermes: A pathology of the sperm centriole responsible for defective sperm aster formation, syngamy and cleavage. *Hum Reprod* 17, 2344-2349 (2002) 76. Svalander P, A. H. Jakobsson, A. S. Forsberg, A. C. Bengtsson & M. Wikland: The outcome of intracytoplasmic sperm injection is unrelated to "strict criteria" sperm morphology. *Hum Reprod* 11, 1019-1022 (1996)

77. Lundin K, B. Söderland & L. Hamberger: The relationship between sperm morphology and rates of fertilization, pregnancy and spontaneous abortion in an invitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection programme. *Hum Reprod* 12, 2676-2681 (1997)

78. Sukcharoen N, T. Sithipravej, S. Promviegchai, V. Chinpilas & W. Boonkasemsanti: Sperm morphology evaluated by computer (IVOS) cannot predict the fertilization rate *in vitro* after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Fertil Steril* 69, 564-568 (1998)

79. Lewis-Jones I, N. Aziz, S. Seshadri, A. Douglas & P. Howard: Sperm chromosomal abnormalities are linked to sperm morphologic deformities. *Fertil Steril* 79, 212-215 (2003)

80. Seli E, D. K. Gardner, W. B. Schoolcraft, O. Moffatt & D. Sakkas: Extent of nuclear DNA damage in ejaculated spermatozoa impacts on blastocyst development after *in vitro* fertilization. *Fertil Steril* 82, 378-383 (2004)

81. Virro M. R, K. L. Larson-Cook & D. P. Evenson: Sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) parameters are related to fertilization, blastocyst development, and ongoing pregnancy in *in vitro* fertilization and intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles. *Fertil Steril* 81, 1289-1295 (2004)

82. Twigg J. P, D. S. Irvine & R. J. Aitken: Oxidative damage to DNA human spermatozoa does not preclude the pronucleus formation at intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Hum Reprod* 13, 1864-1871 (1998)

83. Ahmadi A & S. C. Ng: Developmental capacity of damaged spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod* 14, 2279-2285 (1999)

84. Tomlinson M. J, O. Moffatt, G. C. Manicardi, D. Bizzaro, M. Afnan & D. Sakkas: Interrelationships between seminal parameters and sperm nuclear DNA damage before and after density gradient centrifugation: implications for assisted conception. *Hum Reprod* 16, 2160-2165 (2001)

85. Yanagimachi R: Intracytoplasmic injection of spermatozoa and spermatogenic cells: its biology and applications in humans and animals. *Reprod Biomed Online* 10, 247-288 (2005)

86. Retzloff M. G & M. D. Hornstein: Is intracytoplasmic sperm injection safe? *Fertil Steril* 80, 851-859 (2003)

87. Reijo R, R. K. Alagappan & P. Patrizio: Severe oligospermia resulting from microdeletions of azospermiafactor gene on Y chromosome. *Lancet* 347, 1290-1293 (1996)

88. In't Veld P, H. Brundenburg, A. Verhoeff, M. Dhant & F. Los: Sex chromosomal abnormalities and intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Lancet* 346, 773 (1995)

89. Liebaers I, M. Bonduelle, E. Van Assche, P. Devroey & A. Van Steirteghem: Sex chromosome abnormalities after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Lancet* 346, 1095 (1995)

90. Vegetti W, E Van Assche, A. Frias, G. Verheyen, M. Bianchi, M. Bonduelle, I. Liebaers & A. Van Steirteghem: Correlation between semen parameters and sperm aneuploidy rates investigated by fluorescence in-situ hybridization in infertile men. *Hum Reprod* 15, 351-365 (2000)

91. Ohashi Y, N. Mihari, H. Honda, O. Samura & K. Ohama: High frequency of XY disomy in spermatozoa of severe oligospermic men. *Hum Reprod* 16, 703-708 (2001)

92. Rubio C, M. Gil-Salom, C. Simon, F. Vidal, L. Rodrigo, Y. Minguez, J. Remohí & A. Pellicer: Incidence of sperm chromosomal abnormalities in a risk population: relationship with sperm quality and ICSI outcome. *Hum Reprod* 16, 2084-2092 (2001)

93. Shi Q & R. Martin: Aneuploidy in human spermatozoa: FISH analysis in men with onstitutional chromosomal abnormalities, and infertile men. *Reproduction* 121, 655-666 (2001)

94. Pang M. G, Y. J. Kim, S. H. Lee & C. K. Kim: The high incidence of meiotic errors increases with decreased

sperm count in severe male factor infertilities. *Hum Reprod* 20, 1688-1694 (2005)

95. Calogero A. E, A. De Palma, C. Grazioso, N. Barone, R. Romeo, G. Rappazzo & R. D'Agata: Aneuploidy rate in spermatozoa of selected men with abnormal semen parameters. *Hum Reprod* 16, 1172-1179 (2001)

96. Bonduelle M, M. Camus, A. De Vos, C. Staessen, H. Tournaye, E. Van Assche, G. Verheyen, P. Devroey, I. Liebaers & A. Van Steirteghem: Seven years of intracytoplasmic sperm injection and follow-up of 1987 subsequent children. *Hum Reprod* 14(Suppl), 243-264 (1999)

97. Tesarik J: Sex chromosome abnormalities after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Lancet* 346, 1096 (1995) 98. Hansen M, J. Kurinczuk, C. Bower & S. Webb: The risk of major birth defects after intracytoplasmic sperm injection and *in vitro* fertilization. *N Engl J Med* 346, 725-730 (2002)

99. Sutcliffe A. G, S. W. D'Souza, J. Cadman, B. Richards, I. A. McKinlay & B. Lieberman: Minor congenital anomalies, major congenital malformations and development in children conceived from cryopreserved embryos. *Hum Reprod* 10, 3332-3337 (1995)

100. DeBaun M, E. Niemitz & A. Feinberg: Association of *in vitro* fertilization with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome and epigenetic alterations of LIT1 and H19. *Am J Hum Genetics* 72, 156-160 (2003)

101. Maher E, L. Brueton, S. Bowdin, A. Luharia, W. Cooper, T. Cole, F. Macdonald, J. R. Sampson, C. L. Barratt, W. Reik & M. M. Hawkins: Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome and assisted reproduction technology (ART). *J Med Genet* 40, 62-64 (2003)

102. Cox G, J. Burger, V. Lip, U. Mau, K. Sperling, B. Wu & B. Horsthemke: Intracytoplasmic sperm injection may increase the risk of imprinting defects. *Am J Hum Genet* 71, 162-164 (2002)

Key Words: Male Infertility, Micromanipulation-Assisted Fertilization, Sperm Dna Damage, Teratozoospermia, Maturation Arrest, Oocyte Activation Failure, Laser-Assisted Icsi, High-Magnification Icsi, Polscope, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Jan Tesarik, MAR&Gen, Gracia 36, 18002 Granada, Spain, Tel: 34-958-120206, Fax: 34-958-818277, E-mail: cmendoza@ugr.es

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm